STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable James R. Barber, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

AUG 24 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

GERALD AKEEM GADSDEN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-001286

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial judge erred in refusing to allow appellant to cross-examine a vital State's witness about a lie he told during the co-defendant's cross-examination where the witness's bias and credibility were central to the State's case?

2.

Whether appellant's sentence should be vacated and this case remanded for sentencing where the trial judge erred in refusing to consider appellant's motion to strike mandatory life without parole as a possible sentence based on an erroneous belief that he lacked the power to grant appellant's motion because the solicitor has unfettered discretion to seek such a sentence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 25, 2014, a Greenville County grand jury indicted appellant for armed robbery, two counts of kidnapping, second degree burglary, conspiracy, and a weapons charge. R. 723 – 725. On April 11, 2016, the State called the case for trial, but appellant was not present. R. 712 – 714, l. 12. The Honorable James R. Barber, III, continued the case. R. 712 – 714, l. 12. On April 26, 2015, the solicitor issued a Notice of Intent to Seek Sentence of Imprisonment for Life without the Possibility of Parole. R. 722.

On June 6, 2016, the case was again called for trial before Judge Barber. R. 1. Allen Fretwell and Nicole Simpson represented the State. R. 1. Susannah Ross represented appellant. R. 1. William Yarborough represented co-defendant James White. R. 1. The Court first held a hearing pursuant to State v. Blair, 275 S.C. 529, 273 S.E.2d 536 (1981) and found appellant competent to stand trial. R. 12, l. 6 – 30, l. 21. The State did not proceed on the burglary charge and the jury convicted appellant and his co-defendant on all counts. R. 700, l. 11 – 701, l. 3. **The co-defendant received an aggregate sentence of twelve years' imprisonment.** R. 706, ll. 6 – 21. **Appellant received three concurrent LWOP sentences** and five years' imprisonment on the weapons charge. R. 708, l. 21 – 709, l. 23. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial judge erred in refusing to allow appellant to cross-examine a vital State's witness about a lie he told during the co-defendant's cross-examination where the witness's bias and credibility were central to the State's case.

Relevant Facts

At approximately 11:28 PM on January 20, 2014, someone robbed the Olive Garden in Greenville. R. 435, ll. 4 – 15. The restaurant was closed and three employees were present when it was robbed: (1) the manager, Aaron Kretzschmar (“Kretzschmar”); (2) dishwasher Grady Pugh (“Pugh”), and (3) dishwasher and co-defendant James White (“White”). R. 74, ll. 4 – 11.

Another employee, Damion Riley (“Riley”), left minutes before the robbery. R. 73, l. 14 – 74, l. 3. Three years before the robbery, Riley was convicted for second degree burglary and possession of burglary tools. R. 154, ll. 9 – 14. Riley was on probation at the time of the robbery. R. 168, ll. 4 – 18. During White's cross-examination, Riley lied and said he had not violated his probation. R. 161, ll. 9 – 20. The trial judge prevented appellant from cross-examining Riley about this lie. R. 168, l. 4 – 170, l. 18. R. 193, l. 22 – 194, l. 2. R. 717.

The Robbery

After the restaurant closed, Pugh and White were cleaning the kitchen and washing dishes. R. 184, l. 12 – 185, l. 5. A man with a gun came into the kitchen and ordered Pugh and White to get on the floor. R. 185, ll. 6 – 14. Pugh stayed on the floor, praying, until the police arrived. R. 187, ll. 3 – 24. Pugh told the police the robber had a gun, was heavysset, about his height, and was wearing a camouflage hood. R. 188, l. 13 – 189, l. 15. White also described the

robber as a “black male wearing a brown or camouflage hoodie” with a black handgun. R. 224, l. 8 – 225, l. 3. Pugh had never seen appellant Gadsden before the trial. R. 191, ll. 4 – 5.

The manager, Kretzschmar, was in the office waiting on the dishwashers to finish their work. R. 74, l. 23 – 75, l. 6. He walked back to the kitchen to check their progress. R. 75, ll. 10 – 13. The robber hit Kretzschmar in the side of the head as Kretzschmar rounded a corner. R. 75, l. 22 – 76, l. 4. The robber pointed a gun at Kretzschmar’s face and told him to go to the restaurant’s safe. R. 76, ll. 2 – 4.

At the safe, the robber gave Kretzschmar a flimsy plastic grocery bag and instructed him to fill it with the money from the safe. R. 76, l. 5 – 77, l. 15. While Kretzschmar filled the bag with money, the robber hit him several times and told him to hurry. R. 76, l. 5 – 77, l. 15. Approximately \$3,500.00 was in the safe. R. 77, l. 23 – 79, l. 3. Kretzschmar was unsure of the denominations of the bills in the safe. R. 113, ll. 2 – 24. The robber demanded the rolled coins and their weight caused the bag to rip. R. 79, ll. 4 – 23. The robber fled, leaving a trail of money strewn behind him. R. 79, l. 24 – 80, l. 10. Kretzschmar called 911. R. 80, ll. 21 – 24.

Kretzschmar described the robber as a stocky black male with a black gun wearing a camouflage hooded sweatshirt. R. 98, l. 13 – 99, l. 13. The police gave Kretzschmar a photo lineup, but he was unable to identify appellant. R. 106, ll. 18 – 20. Later, the police showed Kretzschmar a photograph of a camouflage coat worn by appellant and he was unable to identify it as the same coat. R. 106, l. 21 – 107, l. 18.

After the police arrived, they found that one of the windows by the front doors was broken. R. 84, ll. 6 – 8. An “out of place” brick was outside of the door. R. 84, l. 24 – 85, l. 1. Only one pane of the double-pane glass was broken and no one could reach through the broken portion of the window. R. 215, ll. 10 – 18. The police found a white rag propping open the front

door. R. 215, ll. 10 – 18. Kretzschmar identified the rag as belonging to the Olive Garden by, among other characteristics, a marinara sauce stain. R. 85, l. 25 – 86, l. 16.

The first officer on the scene and Kretzschmar described White as unusually calm in the aftermath of the robbery. R. 225, ll. 7 – 10. R. 101, ll. 8 – 13. Two days after the robbery, the police summoned White to the station. R. 312, l. 23 – 313, l. 9. White reaffirmed his initial description of the robbery. R. 317, ll. 7 – 18.

The police then asked White for permission to search his cell phone, which he granted. R. 318, ll. 13 – 18. The police asked White if he had any other items and he replied that he had another “old phone” that he had not used in months. R. 318, ll. 19 – 25. White also gave the police consent to search the “old phone.” R. 318, ll. 19 – 25.

The police retrieved the data from the phones and immediately began looking at the images. R. 336, ll. 6 – 9. Appellant’s photograph was on the phone. R. 341, ll. 19 – 20. A photograph taken the day after the robbery showed appellant wearing a camouflage jacket “holding a large stack of cash.” R. 496, ll. 3 – 15. Another photograph showed appellant wearing teal pants. R. 349, ll. 10 – 14. When the police searched White’s apartment, they found a pair of teal pants with appellant’s credit card. R. 347, l. 17 – 348, l. 9.

Through the contacts on the phone, the police were eventually able to speak to Gadsden. R. 349, l. 23 – 350, l. 5. Gadsden called the police after his mother informed him they wanted to speak to him. R. 349, l. 23 – 350, l. 5. R. 344, l. 14 – 345, l. 15. When the police asked Gadsden about the phone they had taken from White, Gadsden told them he had lost his phone on January 15 at a nightclub in Charleston. R. 350, ll. 12 – 22.

White told the police that he made several thousand dollars before the robbery at a rap concert. R. 443, l. 23 – 444, l. 2. White denied knowing Gadsden. R. 503, ll. 1 – 9. The data

recovered from the phones showed communications between Gadsden and White in the months prior to the robbery. R. 490, l. 11 – 496, l. 2.

Damion Riley's Testimony

Damion Riley, a line cook at the Olive Garden, was the last employee to leave before the robbery. R. 144, l. 21 – 145, l. 22. Riley clocked out at 11:18 PM and the robbery occurred less than ten minutes later. R. 438, ll. 20 – 24. R. 435, ll. 9 – 12. Riley's testimony was critical for the State for three reasons. First, he testified that when he left, the front doors were locked and no rag was propping the doors open. R. 150, l. 12 – 152, l. 7. Second, Riley told the police about a conversation he had with White just before Riley left the restaurant. R. 146, l. 21 – 148, l. 12. Riley claimed White told him he made two thousand dollars working at a rap concert. R. 146, l. 21 – 148, l. 12. Riley claimed this conversation was unusual because he had never had a similar conversation with White. R. 146, l. 21 – 148, l. 12. Finally, the State needed the jury to believe Riley had nothing to do with the robbery. R. 154, ll. 15 – 17.

Before ending his direct-examination, the solicitor asked Riley about his prior convictions. R. 154, ll. 9 – 17. In 2011—three years before the Olive Garden robbery—Riley was convicted of second degree burglary and possession of burglary tools. R. 154, ll. 9 – 17. Riley then denied any involvement in the Olive Garden robbery. R. 154, ll. 15 – 17.

During White's cross-examination, Riley vigorously denied that anyone ever propped open the door to, for example, smoke cigarettes after the restaurant closed. R. 157, l. 8 – 158, l. 14. Riley said, "It's the procedure that we cannot come out—during business hours we can go out, but after 10:00 it is shut down. It's against the law." R. 157, ll. 14 – 18. White's attorney then asked about Riley's burglary conviction:

Q. Now, Mr. Fretwell asked you about you had a previous charge of burglary, second.

A. Yes.

Q. And that took place back in 2011.

A. Yes.

Q. And you had a recent probation violation.

A. No.

Q. Have you—you haven't had a probation violation between 2011 and now?

A. No. I fulfilled all my probation and everything.

Q. And it's complete?

A. Yes, sir.

R. 161, ll. 9 – 20 (emphasis added).

When it was her turn to conduct cross-examination, appellant's attorney questioned Riley about his probation violation:

Q. Okay. Now, did he—did you tell [the police] that you were on probation for burglary at that time?

A. Yes.

Q. You did mention that to him?

A. I can't really recall. I think he asked me just basic questions about the job, I want to say. I can't recall. It's been—

Q. So you—

A. —a while.

Q. —can't recall whether you told him or not?

A. I can't say.

Q. Do you recall whether he asked you about that or not?

A. He asked me had I been in trouble.

Q. Okay. And you don't recall what you said?

A. I said yes.

Q. Okay. And I think what Mr. Yarborough might have been getting at, while you didn't have a probation violation hearing in February—

MR. FRETWELL: Objection, Your Honor. Let me see this document.

MS. ROSS: I think it's relevant. It goes to bias and motive, Your Honor.

R. 168, ll. 4 – 25. Ms. Ross showed the solicitor the document and told the trial judge that she thought she could use it for impeachment and the trial judge then excused the jury. R. 169, ll. 1 – 9.

Trial counsel introduced as a court's exhibit the document she intended to use to impeach Riley. R. 193, l. 22 – 194, l. 2. R. 717. Appellant wanted to impeach Riley with a "Consent Order Imposing Additional Conditions of Probation." R. 717. In the document, Riley admitted violating his probation. R. 717. The hearing on the violation was held on February 19, 2014, before the Honorable Edward W. Miller. R. 717. Riley signed the consent order admitting he violated his probation. R. 717.

After excusing the jury, the trial judge asked, "What does probation have to do with this? Doesn't the rule deal with convictions?" R. 169, ll. 10 – 11. Trial counsel responded that "under 608(c) I think—I think I can put evidence of character and bias and I can also impeach. This witness told Mr. Yarborough that he did not have a probation violation. At that point I—" R. 169, ll. 16 – 19. The trial judge interrupted, "No, he asked him if he violated his probation." R. 169, ll. 20 – 21. Trial counsel responded that Riley did violate his probation. R. 169, ll. 22 – 23. The court asked whether a court found that "there was a probation violation?" R. 169, ll. 24 – 25. Trial counsel pointed out that Riley admitted he was in violation in the order and she told the

court the substance of the violation. R. 170, ll. 1 – 6. The trial judge then ruled, “We ain’t going into it.” R. 170, l. 7.

Discussion

The trial court erred in not allowing appellant to cross-examine the State’s crucial witness Riley on a lie he told from the witness stand. It has long been the rule in this state that, “[c]onsiderable latitude is allowed in the cross-examination of an adverse witness to show bias.” State v. McFarlane, 279 S.C. 327, 330, 306 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1983). Riley lied about not violating his probation and the trial court prevented appellant from exposing his lie to the jury. Had the jury believed Riley was a liar and had a reason to curry favor with the police, the State’s theory about an inside job and that White placed the rag in the door would have been considerably weakened, especially given White’s prior burglary offense.

Appellant’s attempted impeachment of Riley was proper under the rules of evidence. Rule 608(c) provides, “Bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced.” Rule 608(c), SCRE. “Proof of bias is almost always relevant because the jury, as finder of fact and weigher of credibility, has historically been entitled to assess all evidence which might bear on the accuracy and truth of a witness’ testimony.” State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 140-41, 731 S.E.2d 604, 612 (Ct. App. 2012). “Since it is the function of the jury to determine the credibility of witnesses and the weight to be given their testimony, as a general rule, anything having a legitimate tendency to throw light on the accuracy, truthfulness, and sincerity of a witness may be shown and considered in determining the credit to be accorded his testimony, and on cross-examination, any fact may be elicited which tends to show interest, bias, or partiality of the

witness.” State v. Brewington, 267 S.C. 97, 100-01, 226 S.E.2d 249, 250 (1976) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

In McEachern, a witness in a drug conspiracy case told the solicitors before trial that the defendant provided him with financial assistance to hire his lawyer. McEachern at 138, 731 S.E.2d at 610. When the witness took the stand, the defendant objected when the solicitor asked the witness whether the defendant helped him hire an attorney. Id. The trial judge sustained a series of objections on relevance grounds during the witness’s testimony. Id. However, on redirect, the defense failed to object when the witness testified that the defendant offered to provide financial help and denied this offer influenced his testimony. Id.

When the defendant testified, the solicitor cross-examined her about providing financial assistance to the witness to hire an attorney. Id. at 138-39, 731 S.E.2d at 610-11. The defense objected to the questioning. Id. The trial judge overruled the objection and the solicitor was able to cross-examine the defendant about giving money to the witness through his family. Id.

The defendant appealed the trial judge’s ruling allowing the examination. Id. at 140-41, 731 S.E.2d at 611-12. The Court of Appeals affirmed because the evidence tended to show bias, citing Rule 608(c). Id. The evidence that the witness received monetary help from the defendant tended to show his bias in her favor. Id.

The present case is very similar to McEachern. When White’s attorney first asked about Riley’s probation violation, the solicitor failed to object. R. 161, ll. 9 – 20. The State’s witness then lied and said he had not violated his probation. R. 161, ll. 9 – 20. Even if the rules regarding impeachment with criminal convictions barred any questioning about probation, the State’s failure to object at this point left their witness telling a lie to the jury. Not only was

appellant allowed to cross-examine Riley for bias, but appellant would have also been able to expose Riley as a liar in front of the jury. If the jury had found Riley's credibility lacking, it would have weakened several key points in the State's case, including the timing of the rag's placement and White's "unusual" conversation about making money at a rap concert.

Cross-examining witnesses on inconsistencies between trial testimony and prior statements is routine practice in criminal trials to portray witnesses as liars. See Rutland v. State, 415 S.C. 570, 785 S.E.2d 350 (2016). See also Driscoll v. Delo, 71 F.3d 701, 709-11 (8th Cir. 1995) (holding trial counsel's failure to impeach a witness with a prior inconsistent statement prejudiced a defendant); Wilson v. State, 340 P.3d 1213, 1227-30 (Kan. Ct. App. 2014) (holding that if trial counsel had impeached a key witness with prior inconsistent statements, it "would have seriously undermined [the witness's] credibility."). In Rutland, the Court reversed a murder conviction in PCR because trial counsel failed to impeach a key witness with prior inconsistent statements. Id. at 577-79, 785 S.E.2d at 353-54. The witness was "the only disinterested, objective witness." Id. The Court focused on the damage to the witness's credibility that would have resulted from proper impeachment. Id. The Court found that "had trial counsel discredited [the witness's] testimony by raising the prior inconsistent statements on cross-examination, [the witness's] credibility at trial would have suffered. Id.

In appellant's case, Riley's prior inconsistent statement was not made to the police, a reporter, or a bystander, but after being placed under oath and from the witness stand. Few moments can be more damaging to a witness's credibility than being caught lying on the witness stand—a lie that Riley could not have refuted because of his judicial admission to violating his probation. Just as in Rutland, appellant suffered prejudice from the trial court's limitation on his ability to attack Riley's credibility.

Had appellant been allowed to cross-examine Riley on his probation violation, it also would have exposed his bias in favor of the police. See State v. Sims, 348 S.C. 16, 25-26, 558 S.E.2d 518, 523 (2002). In Sims, the trial court erred in limiting the defendant's cross-examination of a State's witness about his pending charges for bias. Id. See also State v. Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 330-32, 563 S.E.2d 315, 317-18 (2002) (holding trial court erred in refusing to allow defendant to cross-examine a witness about possible sentencing exposure); State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 568-71, 541 S.E.2d 813, 816-18 (2001) (holding the trial court erred in refusing to allow the defendant to cross-examine a State's witness about prior deals with the solicitor to show bias); State v. Pradubsri, 403 S.C. 270, 278-80, 743 S.E.2d 98, 103-04 (Ct. App. 2013) (holding trial judge erred in refusing to allow cross-examination of State's witness's possible sentencing exposure to show bias).

Here, Riley was on probation at the time of the robbery and had every incentive to deflect suspicion. He also had an incentive not to risk the wrath of the police because of the ease of which he could have been sent back to prison on a probation violation. The incentive to avoid any prison time is enough to lie. See State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 731 S.E.2d 880 (2012). In Gracely, the trial judge refused to allow the defendant to cross-examine the State's witnesses about the mandatory minimum sentences they avoided by making a plea deal. Id. at 372-75, 731 S.E.2d at 885-86. The Court held that the trial judge "improperly prevented questioning which would have examined the extent of that bias and the witnesses' possible motivations for testifying against appellant." Id.

"The limitation of cross-examination is reversible error if the defendant establishes he was unfairly prejudiced." State v. Brown, 303 S.C. 169, 171, 399 S.E.2d 593, 594 (1991). The evidence proffered by appellant that Riley escaped further prison time even though he admitted

violating his probation showed his bias and the trial judge erred in preventing the impeachment. Riley was the only witness who could testify whether the rag was in the door when he left the Olive Garden and his testimony could not be cumulative to other witnesses. See Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 684 (1986) (listing factors to consider when analyzing erroneous limitation of cross-examination) *cited by* State v. Fossick, 333 S.C. 66, 70, 508 S.E.2d 32, 34 (1998). No other evidence corroborated Riley's claims about the "unusual" conversation with White. The State's case against Gadsden was wholly circumstantial and relied primarily on a photograph on a cell phone that copied numerous rapper poses in other photographs on the phones. R. 585, ll. 15 – 23. The inability to demonstrate Riley's bias and lack of credibility prejudiced appellant. This Court should reverse.

2.

Appellant's sentence should be vacated and this case remanded for sentencing where the trial judge erred in refusing to consider appellant's motion to strike mandatory life without parole as a possible sentence based on an erroneous belief that he lacked the power to grant appellant's motion because the solicitor has unfettered discretion to seek such a sentence.

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