ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

The Honorable James R. Barber, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001286

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

GERALD AKEEM GADSDEN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III.
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly declined to allow Appellant to cross-examine Damion Riley about a purported misstatement during cross-examination where the testimony was not probative of bias, prejudice, or any motive to misrepresent.

Relevant Facts

During his direct examination of Damion Riley, the solicitor asked Riley whether he was convicted of burglary in the second degree and possession of burglary tools in 2011. R. p. 154. Riley replied that he pled guilty to those charges. R. p. 154. Riley testified he had no knowledge or involvement in the robbery of the Olive Garden. R. p. 154. In an effort to cast suspicion on Riley based purely on his prior, unrelated burglary conviction, White's defense counsel engaged in the following colloquy with Riley during cross-examination:

Q: Now, [the solicitor] asked you about you had a previous charge of burglary, second.

A: Yes.

Q: And that took place in 2011.

A: Yes.

Q: And you had a recent probation violation.

A: No.

Q: Have you – you haven't had a probation violation between 2011 and now?

A: No, I fulfilled all my probation and everything.

Q: And it's complete?

A: Yes, sir.

R. p. 161. During the cross-examination of Riley by Appellant's defense counsel, the following exchange occurred:

Q: So would it make sense that you went in on the 22nd, two days later, and went to the Law Enforcement Center and gave a statement to Investigator Weiner.

A: Yes.

Q: Was it Weiner or do you remember?

A: Weiner

Q: Okay. Now, did he - - did you tell him that you were on probation for burglary at that time?

A: Yes.

Q: You did mention that to him?

A: I can't really recall. I think he asked me just basic questions about the job, I want to say. I can't recall. It's been - -

Q: So you - -

A: - - a while.

Q: --- can't recall whether you told him or not?

A: I can't say.

Q: Do you recall whether he asked you about that or not?

A: He asked me had I been in trouble.

Q: Okay. And you don't recall what you said?

A: I said yes.

Q: Okay. And I think that Mr. Yarborough might have been getting at, while you didn't have a probation violation hearing in February - -

Mr. Fretwell: Objection, Your Honor. Let me see this document.

Ms. Ross: I think it's relevant. It goes to bias and motive, Your Honor.

R. pp. 167-68. After dismissing the jury, the trial judge asked Defense Counsel, "What does probation have to do with this? Doesn't the rule deal with convictions?" Defense Counsel

replied, "It does. But - - also under Rule 608 (c) I think - - I think I can put evidence of character and bias and I can also impeach. This witness told Mr. Yarbrough that he did not have a probation violation. At that point I - - ." R. p. 169. Defense Counsel then pointed the trial judge to Riley's "Consent Order Imposing Additional Conditions of Probation." R. pp. 169-70. R. p. 717 (Consent Order Imposing Additional Conditions of Probation). The hearing on Riley's probation violation was held on February 19, 2014, before the Honorable Edward W. Miller. R. p. 717 (Consent Order Imposing Additional Conditions of Probation). The consent order noted Riley violated his probation for "failing to complete Substance Abuse Counseling: By failing to have all fees paid prior to closure date of case owing \$20 Drug Test Fee, \$25 PSE F." (Consent Order Imposing Additional Conditions of Probation). After Defense Counsel explained the nature of the probation violation, the trial judge replied, "We ain't going into it." R. p. 170. After a request for clarification by Defense Counsel, the trial judge reiterated, "We're not going into it." R. p. 170.

Discussion

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in declining to allow him to cross-examine Damion Riley about whether he previously violated his probation because Riley's bias and credibility were central to the State's case. Specifically, Appellant blends arguments under Rule 608(b), SCRE, and Rule 608(c), SCRE, to support his proposition that the trial judge should have allowed him to introduce extrinsic evidence and impeach Riley regarding his probation violation. As an initial matter, Appellant's allusions to Rule 608(b) are not preserved for review by this Court where Appellant's objection below focused exclusively on Rule 608(c). Further, Appellant's arguments lack merit where Riley's alleged misstatements regarding his probationary status did nothing to reveal bias, prejudice, or a motive to misrepresent on his part.

As a threshold matter, Appellant's arguments concerning Rule 608(b), SCRE, are not preserved for appellate review. While Appellant does not explicitly cite to the rule in his brief, his argument is fraught with references to untruthfulness and Riley's "lie." See Br. of App. pp. 11-12. It seems that Appellant aims to use the portion of his argument concerning Rule 608(c), SCRE, which was argued below, to argue new grounds concerning truthfulness for the first time on appeal. Appellant cannot circumvent our State's error preservation rules by attempting to hitch a new argument to one that was actually argued below. If an error is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial judge, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005). The appellate court will not consider any issues or arguments that were not presented to or passed upon by the trial judge, and an appellant is limited on appeal solely to the grounds raised during trial. State v. Fleming, 254 S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970); see State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) ("Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial."). A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003). Since Appellant failed to raise his arguments concerning untruthfulness below, this Court should disregard them, as they are not preserved for appellate review.⁴

As to Appellant's argument that he should have been allowed to cross-examine Riley about his probation violation because it would have exposed his bias in favor of law enforcement, this argument lacks merit. "This Court will not disturb a trial court's ruling

⁴ The State would note that extrinsic evidence of Riley's probation violation would not have been admissible under Rule 608(b) either, as Riley did not make a material misrepresentation that would have been probative of untruthfulness. When asked whether he had a probation violation between 2011 and trial, Riley replied, "no, I fulfilled all my probation and everything." Riley's answer seems to be non-responsive to Defense Counsel's question, as it seems Riley understood the question to be whether his probation was revoked and whether he completed the term of probation. Similarly, Riley's testimony that he had not had a recent probation violation was also accurate, as his probation violation occurred more than two years prior to trial.

concerning the scope of cross-examination of a witness to test his or her credibility, or to show possible bias or self-interest in testifying, absent a manifest abuse of discretion.” State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 371, 731 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012). Pursuant to the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution, every criminal defendant has a right to “to be confronted with the witnesses against him” during trial. U.S. Const. amend. VI. “Specifically included in a defendant’s Sixth Amendment right to confront the witness is the right to meaningful cross-examination of adverse witnesses.” State v. Graham, 314 S.C. 383, 385, 444 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1994). This right guarantees to a criminal defendant the opportunity to cross-examine the witnesses against him concerning bias. State v. Gillian, 360 S.C. 433, 450, 602 S.E.2d 62, 71 (Ct. App. 2004), aff’d as modified on other grounds, 373 S.C. 601, 646 S.E.2d 872 (2007); see also Rule 608(c), SCRE (“Bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced.”).

When cross-examining a witness in regards to the potential for bias, considerable latitude must be allowed. Gillian, 360 S.C. at 450, 602 S.E.2d at 71. However, although a defendant is entitled to an opportunity for meaningful cross-examination, the scope of that cross-examination still rests in the trial judge’s sound discretion. State v. Whitner, 380 S.C. 513, 519, 670 S.E.2d 655, 659 (Ct. App. 2008). A defendant’s right to confront the witnesses against him does not deprive the trial judge of his usual discretion in limiting the scope of cross-examination. State v. Turner, 373 S.C. 121, 130, 644 S.E.2d 693, 698 (2007). Trial judges may impose reasonable limitations on cross-examination designed to show bias “based on concerns about, among other things, harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues, witness’s safety, or interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant.” State v. Jenkins, 322 S.C. 360, 364, 474 S.E.2d 812, 814 (Ct. App. 1996). The limitation of cross-examination constitutes reversible error only if the

defendant establishes unfair prejudice resulted from the limitation. State v. Brown, 303 S.C. 169, 171, 399 S.E.2d 593, 594 (1991).

In State v. Mizzell, the Mizzells and their co-defendant were charged with first-degree burglary, grand larceny, and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. 349 S.C. 326, 329, 563 S.E.2d 315, 316 (2002). During trial, the co-defendant testified against the Mizzells and was permitted to testify he could receive a “long sentence” for the charged offenses. Id. at 334, 563 S.E.2d at 319. However, the trial judge prohibited the Mizzells from asking the co-defendant, who had not yet pled guilty and had not agreed to a plea bargain, about the specific potential sentences he was facing for the charges. Id. at 330, 563 S.E.2d at 317. Subsequently, the Mizzells were convicted and appealed based on the limitations placed upon their cross-examination of the co-defendant. Id. at 330, 563 S.E.2d at 317.

On appeal, the Supreme Court reversed, finding the trial judge erred in limiting the Mizzells’ ability to cross-examine their co-defendant. Id. at 333, 563 S.E.2d at 318. The Court noted that, under the circumstances of the Mizzells’ case, the trial judge erred in limiting the cross-examination of the co-defendant about the potential sentence he was facing because “[t]he lack of a negotiated plea, if anything, creates a situation where the witness is more likely to engage in biased testimony in order to obtain a future recommendation of leniency.” Id. Because the Mizzells’ co-defendant had not pled guilty or reached a plea agreement, the Court determined testimony regarding his possible sentence for his charged offenses was critical to the jury’s ability to evaluate his potential for bias. Id.

In State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 140, 731 S.E.2d 604, 611 (Ct. App. 2012), McEachern contended the trial judge erred in admitting testimony concerning financial assistance she provided to Terrence Rivera, one of the witnesses after her arrest. During his trial

testimony, Terrence admitted McEachern offered to provide financial assistance; however, the witness asserted that the offer of assistance was not tied to his testimony. Id. at 138. The solicitor subsequently sought to cross-examine McEachern regarding this financial assistance provided to Terrence. Id. at 138-39. Following a proffer of McEachern's testimony, defense counsel objected on relevance grounds. Id. at 139. The solicitor asserted that the evidence was probative of an ongoing conspiracy between McEachern and some of the witnesses at trial. Id. The trial judge found that he, "was going to allow it, but only in a very limited sense." Id. When cross-examination of McEachern resumed in front of the jury, the solicitor asked, "if she ever sent money, either directly or through someone else, to Terrence's account in jail." Id. McEachern indicated she gave Terrence's mother money at some point because she indicated Terrence was doing poorly in prison and lacked the funds to make phone calls or purchase other commodities. Id. McEachern also acknowledged she drove Terrence's mother to obtain a lawyer for him. Id. The Court of Appeals found:

We find the evidence was properly admitted to show bias. Here, evidence that [McEachern] provided Terrence's mother transportation to assist in attaining an attorney for Terrence, as well as evidence that she provided him financial assistance by giving Terrence's mother some money to put in his account was relevant to Terrence's potential bias toward [McEachern].

Id. at 141.

In Appellant's case, Riley's probationary status had absolutely no bearing on any bias; prejudice, or motive to misrepresent, as is required by Rule 608(c). Appellant asserts that because Riley violated his probation, he possessed a bias in favor of police. Appellant avers, "Here, Riley was on probation at the time of the robbery and had every incentive to deflect suspicion. He also had an incentive not to risk the wrath of the police because of the ease of which he could have been sent back to prison on a probation violation." Br. of App. p. 12.

Appellant's arguments fail to elucidate any conduct by Riley in this case that would have amounted to a probation violation. Aside from implying Riley was the actual culprit, which was also a theory referred to at trial, Appellant utterly fails to identify any conduct by Riley that would suddenly make him indebted or biased towards law enforcement. If Riley was the actual culprit, he would certainly not be concerned with a probation violation; rather, he would be concerned with being found guilty of burglary as a principal actor. Riley's probationary status thus plays no role in Appellant's assertion that Riley was trying to implicate Appellant in order to escape liability. Furthermore, under S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-450, the police have no authority to charge Appellant with a probation violation; nor do the police have the authority to send him back to prison on a probation violation. See S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-460 Appellant wholly fails to establish any sort of causal connection between a probation violation and any sort of bias that could lead to distorted testimony.

Regardless of whether the trial judge properly declined to allow Appellant to cross-examine Riley about his probation violation, Appellant suffered no legitimate prejudice from the exclusion of the evidence. An appellate court will not reverse based on the erroneous admission or exclusion of evidence unless prejudice has been shown. State v. Taylor, 333 S.C. 159, 172, 508 S.E.2d 870, 876 (1998). Accordingly, appellate courts will decline to set aside convictions for insubstantial errors which could not reasonably have affected the result. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 499, 629 S.E.2d 363, 366 (2006). Riley was not a critical witness for the State, and his testimony did little to incriminate Appellant and White. There was absolutely no evidence Riley was a suspect in the crime. By comparison, there was exceptionally strong evidence of Appellant and White's conspiracy to rob the Olive Garden. Refusing to allow Appellant to cross-examine Riley about a wholly unrelated probation violation where Riley was not a suspect in the case did

not prejudice Appellant in any legitimate way. Any error in the exclusion of the evidence of the probation violation is therefore harmless. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

II.

The trial judge properly sentenced Appellant to life without the possibility of parole where the statutory conditions of S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45 were met, there was no evidence of prosecutorial vindictiveness, and the sentence imposed did not constitute cruel and unusual punishment pursuant to the Eighth Amendment.

Relevant Facts

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